



SCHOOL OF NURSING, MIDWIFERY AND HEALTH

A guide to synthesising qualitative research for researchers undertaking health technology assessments and systematic reviews

Authors: Ring N, Ritchie K, Mandava L, Jepson R.

NHS Quality Improvement Scotland (NHS QIS) is committed to equality and diversity. This document, and the research on which it is based, have been assessed for any likely impact on the six equality groups defined by age, gender, race/ethnicity, religion/faith, disability and sexual orientation. For a summary of the equality and diversity impact assessment, please see www.nhshealthquality.org

This guide was prepared and published by NHS Quality Improvement Scotland (NHS QIS). On 1 April 2011, NHS QIS will become Healthcare Improvement Scotland.

© NHS Quality Improvement Scotland 2011 ISBN 1-84404-917-5

NHS QIS consents to the photocopying, electronic reproduction by 'uploading' or 'downloading' from the website, retransmission, or other copying of this document for the purpose of implementation in NHSScotland and educational and 'not-for-profit' purposes. No reproduction by or for commercial organisations is permitted without the express written permission of NHS QIS.

www.nhshealthquality.org

A guide to synthesising qualitative research for researchers undertaking health technology assessments and systematic reviews

January 2011

N Ring, Lecturer, School of Nursing, Midwifery and Health, University of Stirling K Ritchie, Lead Health Services Researcher, NHS Quality Improvement Scotland L Mandava, Health Services Researcher, NHS Quality Improvement Scotland R Jepson, Senior Research Fellow, School of Nursing, Midwifery and Health, University of Stirling

This report should be referenced as follows:

Ring N, Ritchie K, Mandava L, Jepson R. A guide to synthesising qualitative research for researchers undertaking health technology assessments and systematic reviews. 2010.

Available from: http://www.nhshealthquality.org/nhsqis/8837.html

Contents

1	Foreword				
2	Executive summary				
3	Introduction				
	3.1	What is qualitative research and qualitative data?	3		
	3.2	What is a research synthesis?	3		
	3.3	Why do a synthesis of qualitative studies?	4		
	3.4	The authors' perspective as synthesisers of qualitative literature	5		
4	Practical steps and other challenges associated with synthesising qualitative studies				
	4.1	Terminology	7		
	4.2	Deciding on the research question	8		
	4.3	Study inclusion	9		
	4.4	Literature searching	10		
		4.4.1 Devising a search strategy and undertaking a search	10		
	4.5	Selection of studies and data extraction	11		
	4.6	Quality appraisal of included studies	12		
5	Spee	cific methods for synthesis of the qualitative studies	14		
	5.1	Context and background	14		
	5.2	Critical interpretive synthesis	15		
	5.3	Grounded theory synthesis/formal grounded theory	15		
	5.4	Meta-ethnography	16		
	5.5	Meta-interpretation	16		
	5.6	Meta-study	17		
	5.7	Meta-summary	18		
	5.8	Qualitative cross-case analysis	19		
	5.9	Thematic synthesis	19		
6	Oth	er methods of synthesising research evidence	21		
	6.1	Realist synthesis	21		
	6.2	Narrative synthesis	21		
7	Con	clusions	23		
8	Acknowledgements		25		
9	Refe	References			
10	Appendix 1				
	Methods of quality assessment used by organisations				
4.4	-	roducing health technology assessment	30		
11	Abb	Abbreviations 32			

1 Foreword

NHS QIS has a leading role in improving the quality of healthcare for the people of Scotland. We support NHS boards and their staff by providing advice and guidance on effective clinical practice; supporting implementation improvement, and assessing the performance of NHSScotland.

Advice on the clinical and cost effectiveness of new and existing technologies is one aspect of the work of the organisation, primarily through activities to support the Scottish Medicines Consortium and Scottish Health Technologies Group. The process of health technology assessment (HTA) is used to develop this advice and as such the needs, views and perceptions of patients are recognised as a key element of these analyses. Methods to synthesise qualitative research evidence on patient views are therefore increasingly being explored and used.

NHS QIS has adopted the following definition of HTA, which is based upon those used by the Canadian Agency for Drugs and Technologies in Health (CADTH) and the European Network for Health Technology Assessment (EUnetHTA):

> 'An HTA is an evaluation of the clinical effectiveness, cost effectiveness and broader impact of drugs, medical technologies and health systems, both on patient health and the healthcare system. During the assessment, data from research studies and other sources are systematically gathered, analysed and interpreted in a transparent and robust manner. The findings from this process are then summarised to inform the formulation of safe, effective, health policies that are patient focused and seek to achieve best value for NHSScotland.'

A health technology is any intervention that may be used to promote health, to prevent, diagnose or treat disease or for rehabilitation or long-term care. This includes the pharmaceuticals, devices, procedures and organisational systems used in healthcare (International Network of Agencies for Health Technology Assessment).

This report has been developed in collaboration with colleagues at the University of Stirling to provide those producing and using HTAs with a guide to the methods used to synthesis qualitative research. The guide provides an overview to the main methods with links to further information as an introduction to this specialist area rather than a step-by-step guide. We hope this will provide those new to HTA or new to the inclusion of patient and public needs and preferences, with sufficient information to know when to seek specialist expertise in the use of qualitative research evidence.

We also hope that this report proves a useful introductory text to synthesising qualitative evidence for other purposes, and for students and those trained in quantitative disciplines who wish to know more about this area of research.

2 Executive summary

There is growing consensus that the needs, preferences and experiences of patients should be taken into account in the development and evaluation of new health technologies or service delivery models. It is also acknowledged that such a patient-centred approach should also be extended to HTAs and systematic reviews.

There are several ways of ensuring that the views of patients can be incorporated into HTA and systematic reviews. One way is through identifying and bringing together (synthesising) the relevant research evidence from a variety of individual qualitative studies. While the results from one qualitative study may be difficult to generalise, a syntheses of all the relevant qualitative studies on the same topic can identify a range of common themes as well as any divergent views. Qualitative studies typically use focus groups and/or interviews to gather experiential data from patients and other health service users. Such information can be particularly useful in understanding the barriers and facilitators to the delivery or implementation of new technologies in practice. Qualitative studies, by highlighting the patient perspective, can also help to explain why health and/or social care interventions may be more (or less) effective in some population groups than others.

While methods for the synthesis of quantitative research in healthcare are well established, the synthesis of qualitative research studies is still an emerging methodology and there are currently a range of methods which could be used within HTA and/or systematic reviews. In this report, we describe the most frequently cited methods used to identify and synthesise qualitative evidence and provide examples of how they have been applied in health and/or social care settings. We also discuss the debates and issues surrounding the synthesis of evidence from qualitative studies, such as quality assessment of included papers. We therefore provide a guide for those developing or using HTA reports on the appropriateness of the methods for different types of review and where to find more detailed guidance on how to undertake such syntheses.

3 Introduction

3.1 What is qualitative research and qualitative data?

Qualitative research has developed out of a wide set of disciplines and traditions (eg anthropology, sociology) with a range of underpinning philosophies and no single approach or definition¹. While the underpinning philosophy may differ, qualitative research does have some common characteristics. It generally refers to research methods that seek to explore people's experiences and understandings through analysing textual data from speech or observation². In particular, it aims to explore and understand the 'hows' and 'whys' of a particular experience or social phenomena. Traditionally, qualitative studies have tended only to focus on such issues and have remained distinct from quantitative studies, although in recent years the 'mixed methods' approach has become more common with both qualitative and quantitative methods being used to answer a research question.

The most common gualitative data collection methods in health research are observation, unstructured and semi-structured interviews and focus groups. (Some people also consider data from surveys, especially from open-ended questions, as qualitative, particularly if the survey's aim was to understand experiences or phenomenon.) Data collected from qualitative methods are therefore textual and rich in meaning. Primary qualitative research studies have specific aims, often underpinned by a particular philosophical or theoretical stance (eq feminist theory, social theory, post modernism) and these can be analysed in a number of ways (eq using grounded theory or phenomenology). Qualitative data analysis generally involves inductive reasoning processes (hypothesis generating) to interpret and structure the data/findings³. Influences on the qualitative data analysis process include: the way in which the data were collected; the understanding and interpretations the researcher(s) has of the data; and the theoretical or philosophical 'lens' with which the researcher(s) approaches the data³. All these influences need to be considered when synthesising qualitative research and assessing its validity.

3.2 What is a research synthesis?

A research synthesis is a general term used to describe the 'bringing together' of a body of research on a particular topic. The aim is usually to describe, analyse and draw conclusions on the research evidence, and is often used to make decisions about the effectiveness of healthcare interventions. Within the context of HTAs, research syntheses can be of quantitative evidence, qualitative evidence or a combination of the two. Synthesises of quantitative evidence often use rigorous protocols and processes which aim to ensure that they are transparent, systematic and reproducible (eg Cochrane reviews). Common terms and synonyms used to describe such a synthesis include systematic review, meta-analysis^a, and systematic literature review. Quantitative synthesis seeks to focus on an estimate of an effect and reduce uncertainty in that estimate. Synthesisers of quantitative research often use statistical pooling of numerical data (meta-analysis) to estimate the effects of an intervention or treatment. The type of quantitative evidence that is most relevant to HTA

a This term generally refers to the method of combining quantitative data from studies.

includes those that assess the effectiveness of interventions, the 'gold standard' being the randomised controlled trial (RCT), and epidemiological studies such as cohort studies⁴. Primary studies included in reviews of quantitative data tend to use designs and methods which are relatively homogenous. There is little underlying emphasis placed on a philosophical stance and the main aim of intervention studies is to quantify the effects (be it efficacy or effectiveness, benefit or harm) of intervention X versus intervention Y on outcomes A, B and C. The outcome data in such studies are numeric and can be extracted and summarised, for example, using the researchers' own summary statistics as reported in their study paper.

Synthesis of qualitative evidence is, by contrast, more exploratory and may seek to expand understanding of a phenomena or patient experience. Evidence from primary gualitative studies can also be synthesised but there are many different approaches and methods to the identification of studies for inclusion and their synthesis (see later sections). Some approaches use similar, but not identical, methods to quantitative synthesis in terms of searching for relevant primary studies, applying inclusion criteria and assessing the guality of the research. However, the synthesis of qualitative studies can be more complex than the synthesis of quantitative studies. As mentioned previously, qualitative research studies have specific aims, often underpinned by a particular philosophical stance and findings are presented in a different ways. The researcher(s) has to interpret their study data and there is recognition that there may be no universal truth. The degree and type of interpretation can therefore be a major issue for a reviewer trying to synthesise data from several different primary studies. For example, 10 studies looking at the experiences of access to emergency contraception may generate 20–30 themes derived from the participants' findings, some of these themes may be similar but others may not be. Also, some of these researchers may have analysed their data using feminist theory whilst others have taken a less theoretical approach. Thus, the interpretation and presentation of data in these 10 studies may be very different, even if the participants overall are actually saying similar things. The range of approaches to analysis of individual study data means that there is no easy way to extract and combine data on the themes from several studies. By comparison, different quantitative studies often collect data on, for example, outcome A in a similar way so findings can then be combined meaningfully across studies. Importantly, synthesis of qualitative studies usually involves the reviewer(s)^b providing their interpretation of the original author's interpretation of their participants' views. As such, gualitative synthesis can produce 'third order' findings that is, an interpretation of an interpretation of an interpretation⁵⁻⁷.

Syntheses and systematic reviews of quantitative literature are conducted and reported using a structured approach which is well documented and recognised⁸⁻¹¹. In contrast, the methods for synthesising the qualitative literature are still evolving even although over the last decade there has been a noticeable increase in the number of publications reporting synthesis of qualitative studies and a corresponding increase in publications outlining the different approaches which could be used and how to integrate the qualitative literature into

b That is, the person undertaking the synthesis of qualitative studies.

systematic reviews^{8,12-16}. Although the syntheses of qualitative literature within the context of HTA and medical research are a relatively recent development, the potential of this process has been recognised in other disciplines since the 1980s, for example, within education⁷ and nursing¹⁷.

3.3 Why do a synthesis of qualitative studies?

Various factors have encouraged this recent interest in the synthesis of qualitative studies, particularly in relation to HTA. In particular, there is a now a policy imperative for person-centred services so the needs, preferences and experiences of patients must be central to any discussion about the use of new technologies, treatments and/or service redesign¹⁸. For example, The HTA Handbook⁴ suggests the synthesis of qualitative evidence can be used in HTA in several ways (Box 1).

Box 1: Use of qualitative synthesis in HTAs

In HTAs qualitative synthesis can:

- contribute to decision-makers having the best possible evidence base
- help to assess core patient aspects in relation to a given HTA
- be used to assess whether there is a need for primary research
- be used to gain new insight into relevant patient and/or organisational aspects
- be used to make a generalisation.

Members of the Cochrane Collaboration Qualitative Methods Group have also identified possible ways in which qualitative research can contribute to a systematic review of effectiveness (Box 2).

Box 2: How qualitative research can contribute to Cochrane intervention reviews¹⁴

Qualitative research can contribute to Cochrane intervention reviews by:

- informing reviews by using evidence from qualitative research to help define and refine the question, and to ensure the review includes appropriate studies and addresses important outcomes
- enhancing reviews by synthesising evidence from qualitative research identified while looking for evidence of effectiveness
- extending reviews by undertaking a search to specifically seek out evidence from qualitative studies to address questions directly related to the effectiveness review
- supplementing reviews by synthesising qualitative evidence within a standalone, but complementary, qualitative review to address questions on aspects other than effectiveness.

Importantly, there is also now explicit recognition of the benefits of using qualitative research in the development and evaluation of complex interventions¹⁹.

Although the synthesis of qualitative research has been be used to integrate study findings from individual qualitative studies²⁰ and can be used alongside or within quantitative reviews⁸, it is important to be aware that not everyone accepts that it is possible, or even appropriate, to synthesise qualitative studies. For example:

'Some qualitative researchers argue that the synthesis of qualitative studies is impossible and meaningless. Others support the notion of qualitative synthesis, but there is no emerging consensus on appropriate guidance for the systematic review of qualitative evidence for health and social care'¹⁰.

3.4 The authors' perspective as synthesisers of qualitative literature

The authors of this report take the position that it is possible and appropriate to synthesise qualitative studies, whilst acknowledging some of the challenges and assumptions in doing so. The authors started by undertaking reviews of quantitative evidence, primarily to determine the effectiveness of interventions. Ring and Jepson, two of the report authors, have since undertaken qualitative reviews as 'standalone' projects, as well as using them to understand the results of quantitative reviews. Whilst aware of the differing philosophical stances underlying the various approaches to qualitative synthesis, the authors have adopted a pragmatic approach to their work in this area. The authors also believe that qualitative studies have an important role to play in understanding how factors facilitate or hinder the effectiveness of health technologies.

4 Practical steps and other challenges associated with synthesising qualitative studies

4.1 Terminology

Synthesis of qualitative studies is an emerging methodology and there are many approaches that can be used. Within the literature a wealth of terms are used to describe these different approaches and this can be daunting for those new to the field as they seek to make sense of the situation. This is especially challenging as terms often appear quite similar, for example 'meta-synthesis', 'meta-ethnography', 'meta-narrative', 'meta-study' and 'meta-interpretation', but may have different meaning. Some of these terms just relate to the actual synthesis of the data from the studies, whereas others refer to the whole process of the synthesis, including identification of studies, inclusion and exclusion criteria, assessment of quality and synthesis of the data from the primary qualitative studies. While some authors are explicit in defining their terms, aims and scope, this is not always the case. As such, readers should not assume that authors using the same or similar term, share the same definition or understanding of that term.

'Meta-synthesis' is one frequently used but potentially ambiguous term. For example, it has been defined as 'a method of synthesising qualitative accounts to construct adequate interpretive explanations from multiple studies²¹. Paterson et al. specifically outline meta-synthesis as a process contributing to their interpretive meta-study approach²². However, on other occasions, meta-synthesis is used more broadly as an overarching term for a variety of approaches^{20,23,24}, sometimes extending to include the use of quantitative methods to aggregate gualitative findings. Meta-synthesis has also been used loosely within the literature as a qualitative equivalent for the quantitative term 'meta-analysis'. Given that 'the roots' of meta-synthesis are 'multi-facted'23 and that the synthesis of qualitative studies is increasingly being conducted in the context of HTAs and systematic reviews, such difference in meaning is not surprising. In recognition that the term 'meta-synthesis' can be defined by some as having a specific interpretive meaning but be regarded by others more broadly – sometimes even being used interchangeably with other terms which place less emphasis on interpretation – the authors have therefore avoided using this term, where possible.

Differences in terminology are also apparent in the 'categorisation' and naming of the various methods used to synthesise qualitative studies. There is currently no single agreed approach. For example, Finlayson & Dixon identify four methods for synthesising qualitative research (meta-ethnography, grounded formal theory, cross-case analysis and meta-study)²⁴ whereas others identify nine^{8,25}. Even where authors identify the same number of methods for synthesising qualitative studies, variations can still occur, for example some authors consider ecological triangulation to be a method of synthesis but others do not^{8,25}. Sometimes too, the different methods to qualitative synthesis are categorised by their individual names^{8,24-25}, for example meta-ethnography. On other occasions, broader groupings are used, for example overarching categories such as theory building, theory explication and descriptive study²⁶.

Differences in naming and categorising the various methods used to synthesise qualitative studies have arisen for several reasons. One reason is the

epistemological position of authors and whether they regard such synthesis as focusing exclusively on studies using qualitative research methods and/ or involve aggregation of qualitative data. Therefore a number of alternative approaches of categorising the different methods have been proposed^{14,20,27} which recognise that reviewers may be linking qualitative findings to quantitative ones and even quantifying qualitative data. Another reason for terminology differences is that whilst it may be helpful to regard the different methods as 'discrete entities'²⁶ this is not possible as there is overlap²⁸ with a 'number of superficially distinct approaches [which] exhibit strong underlying similarities'²⁷. Additionally, researchers may also adopt more than one method for the synthesis of qualitative studies, for example, using meta-ethnography and grounded theory within the one investigation²⁹.

Synthesising qualitative research is a complex area. The variety of terms, differences in qualitative primary studies and the discipline of those conducting such reviews, have contributed to discussion, debate and contention over the best methods of synthesis. Readers wanting to know more about such issues are referred to this wider body of knowledge where various authors describe indepth the associated theoretical issues for example as described by Downie³⁰.

Only a few examples of how the names and/or categorisation of the different methods of synthesising qualitative research can vary are highlighted in this section. Such examples serve merely to illustrate the complexities associated with this area of research – it is not the authors' intention to criticise the work of others. The authors' purpose was to raise awareness among readers that various approaches to synthesising qualitative literature exist, nomenclature may vary and consideration needs to be given to the approach most suited to the purpose of the synthesis and the reviewer's philosophical position.

4.2 Deciding on the research question

One of the first challenges for a reviewer conducting a synthesis of qualitative studies is to understand which of the many methods is most appropriate for their study. The research question and aims will guide a reviewer's choice of method for synthesising the qualitative data. A reviewer may need to consider:

- 1. What is the exact nature of the planned synthesis? For example, is the aim to explore aspects of a condition such as living with depression; or is it about evaluating people's experiences of a service such as treatments for depression?
- 2. What is the context for the research such as the relevant policy and practice?
- 3. Who is the synthesis aimed at (eg policy makers, healthcare professionals, and/or patients).
- 4. What is the reviewers' philosophical approach to qualitative research and synthesis?

In many cases, synthesis of qualitative studies will start with a relatively welldefined research question(s). However, depending on the philosophical approach of the person undertaking the qualitative synthesis this may not always be the case – some qualitative synthesisers may modify their initial research question in response to their literature searching and screening¹³.

In qualitative research, very few primary studies are likely to have exactly the same research question or focus as that of the planned synthesis, nonetheless

there may be a large number of primary research studies containing some relevant data. For example, a review of studies may be commissioned to answer the research question 'What are the experiences of pregnant women who are recommended by health professionals to reduce their alcohol consumption?' Primary studies may have focused more on women's experiences of drinking alcohol in pregnancy, which is only one aspect of the recommendations by a health professional. The dissonance between the research question of the synthesis and that of the primary researcher's question is less evident in quantitative reviews, where the primary research and synthesis questions may be similar. For example, a quantitative review and a primary study may both want to answer the research question, 'Does cranberry juice reduce urinary tract infections?'

4.3 Study inclusion

Similar to quantitative reviews, there are a number of decisions which will help shape the search strategy and subsequent decisions about which primary studies to include or exclude. Some researchers use a similar approach to systematically identifying and appraising qualitative evidence as they would for a quantitative synthesis. This is particularly evident for reviews of qualitative evidence undertaken alongside reviews of quantitative evidence (eg Cochrane reviews), but there have been debates as to whether this approach is appropriate given the differences in primary data³¹.

Use of inclusion criteria within a synthesis of qualitative studies varies depending on the reviewers' underlying philosophical approach. For example, for those conducting a qualitative study synthesis alongside a systematic review of quantitative studies, inclusion criteria are likely to be well defined and explicit. Many reviewers of quantitative evidence devise their inclusion criteria based on the Population, Intervention, Comparison and Outcome (PICO) model⁹ which has been adapted for qualitative studies by including the phenomena of interest (P) and context (C)¹⁰. By comparison, those conducting a standalone synthesis of qualitative studies using grounded theory may decide to include studies based on 'conceptual robustness' and theoretical saturation³², perhaps adopting a more iterative approach to literature searching and screening. Nonetheless, for studies to be considered appropriate for inclusion, reviewers need to be aware of the following issues:

- The population group and context
- The topic being researched, eg a disease, intervention, service or model of care
- The underlying phenomenon or experience that is being explored such as attitudes, beliefs, knowledge, experience, understanding, facilitators, barriers, perceptions and acceptability
- The type of qualitative data to include and whether to include studies which have a different focus to the review aims.

Context can be an issue for qualitative reviews as well as quantitative reviews^c as experiences and common understandings may differ according to where and when the research took place. For example, attitudes towards alcohol drinking

c For example, those reviews which focus on interventions to change behaviour which are heavily influenced by attitudes, beliefs and context.

may be different in non-Muslim and Muslim countries; medication use in longterm conditions may vary between countries depending on whether healthcare is publicly or privately funded. The issue of context may need particularly careful interpretation with regard to the applicability of the findings.

Reviewers must also consider whether included studies will use only traditional, participatory qualitative data collection methods such as interviews and focus groups or whether a broader range of evidence will be used. The reviewers' approach to the synthesis of qualitative research may determine the type of data collection methods that are eligible for inclusion. For example, a synthesis on domestic violence included studies predominantly using grounded theory and phenomenological research methods³³ whereas a review on the diffusion of innovation included studies from diverse research traditions (and both qualitative and quantitative research)³⁴. A study by Ring and Jepson on the barriers and facilitators to asthma action plans excluded data from interviewer administered questionnaires³⁵ because such data was considered to lack the necessary conceptual depth.

The number of studies included within a synthesis of qualitative studies is also an issue of debate. While the included studies need to provide depth of insight into the research question, too many may hinder the data analysis process^{23,26} so a balance is needed between too many and too few. Whether reviewers include all relevant texts or a sample depends on the reviewer's philosophical position and the purpose of the review. So, for example, a reviewer conducting a synthesis of living with diabetes may choose to sample only those studies which provide the most 'rich description' or 'conceptual clarity'⁸. Readers requiring further information on sampling in the synthesis of qualitative studies should refer to the relevant literature, for example publications by Finfgeld²⁶ and Dixon-Woods¹³. In practice, the number of included studies is usually relatively small, for example eight^{35,36} or 13 studies³³. What is expected in most syntheses (whether qualitative or quantitative) is that reviewers explicitly and transparently state their criteria for including studies.

4.4 Literature searching

It is widely acknowledged that searching for qualitative studies is a more complex and difficult task than searching for quantitative studies^{37,38}. Established methods used for searching and identifying quantitative research do not necessarily translate into effective searches for qualitative studies. There are several reasons for difficulties in searching for primary qualitative studies.

First, although qualitative studies are now indexed as well as other study designs, such as RCTs, this was not always the case (for example, 'qualitative research' was introduced as a MeSH term in MEDLINE only in 2003). Databases also differ in the terms they use to index qualitative studies (in CINAHL, the term used is 'qualitative studies'). The danger of using only indexed terms is that potentially relevant studies may be missed during the search, because inappropriate index terms have been used³² or papers were published prior to any adequate indexing.

Second, the focus or aim of the research is not always explicit in the title of the primary qualitative research, for example, 'Being serious about humour in healthcare'³⁹ and 'Courage as a process of pushing beyond the struggle'²⁹. Identifying the research focus of a qualitative study is especially difficult when a paper's title consists of a participant quote and/or there is no abstract.

Third, as mentioned previously, the focus of a primary qualitative study might be different from the focus of the qualitative review, therefore, the abstract, title and index terms may not provide details of potentially relevant data. Thus relevant papers may not appear in any search. One way of addressing this problem is to hand-search relevant journals and/or review reference lists of included studies for additional items. Finally, qualitative research is also published in books as well as journals and therefore extra consideration needs to be given to searching this source.

Any search for qualitative studies must take these difficulties into consideration. As with searches for quantitative studies, a search strategy needs to devised and refined (see Section 4.4.1), but this is an area of qualitative reviews that is least developed and tested⁴⁰. Regardless of the approach taken to searching for literature (systematic and comprehensive versus selective or theoretical), it is important to detail how the searches were derived and undertaken and include such details in subsequent publications of the review.

4.4.1 Devising a search strategy and undertaking a search

The process of devising a search strategy to identify qualitative studies can be similar to, or share some similarities with, the process for identifying quantitative studies. There have been several papers published on how to search and locate qualitative studies in the specific electronic databases including MEDLINE⁴¹, EMBASE⁴², PsycINFO⁴³ and CINAHL⁴⁴. Another study reported that a search using broad-based terms was as effective as a complex (free text) one in locating qualitative research examining patients' experiences of living with a leg ulcer⁴⁰. Unlike clinical studies (eg RCTs) where there is a register of trials (the Cochrane Central Register of Controlled Trials), there is no such database for qualitative research. Before beginning to devise a search strategy for a review, it is important to consider the comprehensiveness of the search and time constraints.

Searching for studies is informed by a reviewer's philosophical approach to qualitative synthesis. Some approaches (such as those which mirror the quantitative systematic approach) aim to be comprehensive and identify all the potentially relevant studies. Other approaches to sampling may be more purposive, where the aim is to reach theoretic saturation rather than identify all the relevant studies¹⁴. Meta-ethnography, grounded-theory approaches and realist synthesis (see Sections 5 and 6) may all use theoretical sampling approaches.

The use of theoretical or selective rather than systematic sampling creates a number of problems. In particular, if the reviewer wants to locate a synthesis of qualitative studies within the paradigm of conventional systematic review methodology, it could be asserted that such reviews are neither transparent or reproducible; they are more (or less) traditional literature reviews of the type that have always been done¹³.

Searches need to be developed both for the topic area (eg experiences of breast cancer care) and the types of studies to be included (eg RCTs or qualitative studies). Search strategies, particularly for quantitative studies are usually designed to maximise their sensitivity, specificity and precision (often referred to as 'optimal' search strategies)⁴⁵. Sensitivity is the proportion of articles retrieved that are relevant (meeting inclusion criteria); specificity is the proportion of irrelevant articles (not meeting inclusion criteria) that are not retrieved; and precision is the proportion of retrieved articles that meet inclusion criteria⁴⁵.

Optimal searches can necessitate the casting of a wide net in order to identify every possible study and are often very time consuming as they can result in identifying large numbers of non-relevant studies.

It is very difficult to have a search which is highly sensitive and specific, especially when trying to identify complex topics in certain areas. Thus, the researcher may need to decide whether to try and identify every study (which is very time consuming) or whether to aim to have a very specific search which is likely to miss some studies (ie be less than 100% sensitive). Some papers have evaluated the search strategies for identifying qualitative studies across one or more electronic databases^{40,46}. One study reported that strategies that attempt to maximise the number of potentially relevant records (high sensitivity) are likely to result in a large number of non-relevant studies (low specificity)⁴⁶. As with identifying quantitative studies it is necessary to search a range of other sources for both published and unpublished studies, such as citation lists, reference lists and the internet. Hand-searching a few relevant journals for studies may also be useful especially if relevant data may be 'buried' within the text of a paper and the study would not be retrieved through electronic searches. For example, in a synthesis of qualitative research focusing on older people's attitudes to sport and exercise, hand-searching the Journal of Aging and Physical Activity (over a time-limited period) could be a useful complement to electronic database searching but will require additional time.

4.5 Selection of studies and data extraction

Once the searches for qualitative studies have been undertaken, the search results are commonly downloaded into a reference manager software (eq Reference Manager, EndNote, Refworks) to enable them to be assessed for relevance. The next step is deciding on which studies to include or exclude, which may depend on the approach used to synthesise the studies. Some approaches have clear inclusion and exclusion criteria whilst other approaches are more iterative (eq realist synthesis). While topic relevance is clearly a reason for inclusion or exclusion, some researchers also exclude studies on the basis of quality (see Section 4.6). Sources of guidance on systematic reviews, such as the Cochrane handbook⁹, recommend that two people assess studies for inclusion and exclusion as it adds to the validity and transparency of the review. The authors of this report believe that, regardless of the approach used to analyse, it may be useful to log decisions made at this stage, either through the use of a diagrams such as recommended by Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-analysis (PRISMA) (www.prisma-statement.org) or by recording decisions in a transparent way that enables a reader to understand the analytical and decision processes²⁸. If there is debate about which studies to include, these can be resolved in discussion with a third reviewer. In some cases, authors of the original studies may need to be contacted for further information before decisions regarding a paper's inclusion can be made.

Data can be extracted in a number of ways. Some people use software packages such as NVivo to organise and extract the data so it can be synthesised relatively easily. To increase accuracy of data extraction, it is also useful to have two people working on this part of the process.

4.6 Quality appraisal of included studies

Quality appraisal of qualitative studies is not as straightforward as for

quantitative studies where there are several validated methods of assessing quality. Indeed, there is currently little consensus as to what are the essential criteria for a high-quality qualitative study and over 100 quality appraisal tools are available¹⁴. The issue of what constitutes quality in qualitative research is a much contested area and part of a bigger debate over the nature of knowledge generation⁴⁷. Different disciplines may place a higher value on some aspects of study design such as the theoretical perspective or analytical strategy and there are concerns about excluding less well-conducted studies on the grounds of quality as they may still provide important new insights into a phenomenon^{5,48-50}. Some view qualitative checklists as reductionist and over prescriptive in nature suggesting that, 'if we succumb to the lure of "one size fits all" solutions we risk being in a situation where the tail (the checklist) is wagging the dog (the qualitative research)'⁵¹. Thus, there is a concern that checklists are being used to reduce qualitative research to a list of technical procedures.

Questions have also been raised over whether qualitative research can be judged using the same criteria as applied to quantitative research – for example, reliability, validity and generalisability⁵². There are two opposing views on these issues and more detailed discussion is provided in the literature, for example, the paper by Mays et al.⁵². Additionally there is debate over whether there is consistency in judgements made when assessing studies. Dixon-Woods et al.⁵⁰ compared three different approaches to qualitative appraisal: unprompted judgement based on expert opinion; a UK Cabinet Office quality framework⁵³; and CASP (a Critical Appraisal Skills Programme tool)⁵⁴. They found that the tool-based approaches did not appear to have a higher level of agreement than those using unprompted judgement⁵⁴. Another commonly used quality appraisal tool is Popay et al.'s criteria⁵⁵. Further discussion of the range of checklists (and additional advice and support) is available through the Cochrane Qualitative Collaboration Methods Group and is recommended reading⁵⁶⁻⁵⁷ for anyone considering synthesising qualitative research studies.

Additionally, different approaches to synthesising qualitative research (such as meta-ethnography, thematic analysis) have their own approach to quality assessment and a discussion of these is presented in a paper by Barnett Page et al.²⁵. For example, they note that framework, meta-narrative and thematic synthesis all have specific approaches to quality assessment, whereas other approaches such as meta-ethnography or grounded theory are 'less committed to the concept' of quality appraisal²⁵.

Organisations which produce systematic reviews, and/or incorporate qualitative evidence into reviews, such as the Evidence for Policy and Practice Information and Co-ordinating Centre (EPPI-Centre), the Centre for Reviews and Dissemination (CRD), the Cochrane Collaboration and the Joanna Briggs Institute (JBI), all assess the quality of qualitative studies. Their different approaches and/ or suggested quality tools are outlined in Appendix 1. The EPPI-Centre and JBI both have quality checklists embedded in reviewer software. So, in terms of whether quality assessment should be part of the process of synthesising qualitative studies, there is currently debate and a range of possible options which should be considered by reviewers. In the experience of Ring and Jepson, while they have not used quality assessment as a basis for excluding potential studies from synthesis, they have found the process of quality appraisal useful as it has facilitated their systematic and critical review of included studies, thereby enabling a deeper understanding of their included texts.

5.1 Context and background

There are multiple ways for synthesising gualitative studies and the method adopted depends on many factors including the reviewer's philosophical position and the purpose of the review. In Sections 5 and 6, the authors provide an overview of the various methods which could be used to synthesise gualitative research including within, or alongside, HTA and systematic reviews. These methods have been identified after review of an extensive, but not exhaustive, body of literature from a range of diverse sources including journal papers and guidance documents. The authors adopted an iterative approach to identifying their information sources. They started by identifying existing reference documents describing methods for synthesis of gualitative studies and seminal theoretical texts, for example on meta-ethnography⁷. Using the key terms identified from these sources, the authors then searched databases such as MEDLINE and CINAHL to identify individual research studies using the methods identified in the reference and theoretical texts. The references lists of relevant papers were also reviewed to identify other possible sources and the Internet was also searched.

Where possible in this section, the authors illustrate the theoretical concepts and issues with practical worked examples. As the synthesis of gualitative studies is an ongoing area of debate and discussion, readers should note that the authors present their own interpretation of this complex body of literature. Although the authors discuss the different methods for the synthesis of qualitative research separately, in practice they overlap and are inter-related. There are several reasons for this. One reason is that qualitative research is increasingly being used to better understand clinical issues either through interpretation of, or integration with, guantitative research. In such cases, those conducting a synthesis of qualitative studies may utilise a pragmatic approach, adapting the principles of a specific method(s). An example of this is the study by Ring and Jepson, which used the principles of meta-ethnography and thematic synthesis to integrate qualitative findings with those from an earlier systematic review of RCTs³⁵. The authors present several methods which could be used in the synthesis of qualitative research. Other methods also exist but Sections 5 and 6 focus specifically on those methods appearing most often in the published health and social care literature^d. As mentioned previously, there is no agreed approach to the naming and/or categorisation of the different methods which could be used to synthesise qualitative studies. For pragmatic reasons, methods featured in Section 5 are presented alphabetically – the order is not intended to suggest a hierarchy of importance and/or frequency of use in the literature. Methods outlined are:

- critical interpretive synthesis
- grounded theory synthesis
- meta-ethnography

d On this basis, 'ecological triangulation' (see Barnett-Page & Thomas for details)²⁵ is not specifically featured in this document as the supporting references while freely available on the internet are of an unknown date.

- meta-interpretation
- meta-study
- meta-summary
- qualitative cross-case analysis
- thematic synthesis.

Most of these methods are detailed at length by leading authors in these fields. Readers should therefore refer to key texts by authors such as Noblit & Hare⁷ and Sandelowski & Barroso⁵⁸ for further information.

5.2 Critical interpretive synthesis

This method, which has the potential to generate theory, was developed by Dixon-Woods et al. as a means of conducting an interpretive synthesis of all types of evidence in a specific field⁴⁹. Although the term 'interpretive synthesis' appears in the literature much earlier, for example by Jensen & Allen in the 1990s⁵⁹, the focus in this section is specifically critical interpretive synthesis and the work of Dixon-Woods et al.⁴⁹.

Critical interpretive synthesis applies to the whole process of the review, not specifically the synthesis element²⁵. Dixon-Woods et al.⁴⁹ propose critical interpretive synthesis as a model 'sensitised to the kinds of processes involved in a conventional systematic review while drawing on a distinctively qualitative tradition of enquiry'. Critical interpretive synthesis is therefore adapted from, or influenced by, other approaches especially grounded theory and meta-ethnography (see Sections 5.3 and 5.4) and is an iterative process. Dixon-Woods et al. apply their model to a study of access to healthcare by vulnerable groups⁴⁹. For example, they note their approach was useful as it was 'neither possible nor desirable to have a precise review question' at the outset of their investigation so their research question was refined in response to the outcome of their literature search⁴⁹. A summary of the key processes involved in critical interpretive synthesis is shown in Box 3.

Box 3: A summary of the key processes involved in critical interpretive synthesis (from Dixon-Woods et al.⁴⁹)

- Identification of an initial review question (which is modified as the study progresses)
- Literature searching and sampling
- Determining quality of possible papers
- Extracting data and/or summarising included papers
- Analysing included papers, eg 'developing a critique, generating themes and [producing] new theoretical conceptualisation'.

5.3 Grounded theory synthesis/formal grounded theory

Grounded theory was initially developed as an interpretive method for primary research, especially for investigations of social phenomenon⁶⁰. Grounded theory synthesis (sometimes known as the constant comparative method) uses an

inductive approach for data analysis and has been used as a method of theory building²⁶. Barnett-Page & Thomas²⁵ provide a comprehensive overview of the background to grounded theory and its use in the synthesis of qualitative studies.

The most frequently cited examples of the synthesis of qualitative research using grounded theory appear within the nursing literature and focus on topics such as domestic violence³³ and aspects of caring⁶¹⁻⁶². Such papers provide useful guidance on how these researchers conducted their studies. Whilst grounded theory has been used to synthesise 'like methods or like materials'³³, it has also been used to analyse studies with different epistemological perspectives such as phenomenology and concept analysis⁶². Grounded theory synthesis has a place in qualitative synthesis; however its potential within the context of HTA is yet to be fully explored and currently other methods especially meta-ethnography are used more widely.

5.4 Meta-ethnography

Meta-ethnography is based on the 1980s work of Noblit & Hare in education⁷. In recent years, based on the significant increase in published papers using the principles of this approach, meta-ethnography has emerged as a leading method for synthesising qualitative healthcare research. For example, it has been used in understanding long-term conditions such as diabetes⁶³, chronic fatigue syndrome⁶⁴ and medicine taking⁶⁵. In the context of HTA, metaethnography could be used to aid interpretation of findings from quantitative studies, perhaps as a 'parallel synthesis' with findings 'juxtaposed alongside' those from a systematic review of trial-based evidence¹⁴.

The process of meta-ethnography involves seven steps (see Box 4) which should result in production of a new 'third order' interpretation by bringing together findings from individual interpretive accounts^{7,25,52}. To provide this new insight, meta-ethnography utilises the participant findings and author interpretations reported in the original studies. As such, qualitative studies used in meta-ethnography are generally conceptually rich. To synthesise these qualitative studies and produce a new third order interpretation, meta-ethnography uses a variety of methods including 'reciprocal translation analysis' and 'line of argument synthesis'⁷. These methods are detailed in theoretical texts^{7,25,52} and in seminal worked examples^{5,63} so, readers are referred to such sources.

Box 4: The seven steps of meta-ethnography (from Noblit & Hare)⁷

- 1. Getting started (the search)
- 2. Confirming initial interest (literature screening)
- 3. Reading studies and extracting data
- 4. Determining how studies are related (identifying common themes and concepts)
- 5. Translating studies (checking first and/or second order concepts and themes against each other)
- 6. Synthesising translations (attempting to create new third order constructs
- 7. Expressing the synthesis.

Meta-ethnography is one approach to synthesis that can have an important role to play in HTA reviews. For example, Ring and Jepson used meta-ethnography to obtain new insight and meaning into the barriers and facilitators to asthma action plan use³⁵ - insight which enabled a better understanding of the trial interventions which an earlier systematic review identified as effective in promoting action plan ownership and use⁶⁶. Although it is over 20 years since meta-ethnography was first identified⁷ and a considerable number of researchers have since applied meta-ethnography to healthcare issues, this is still an evolving method. Those wishing to undertake a qualitative synthesis and who want more detailed information about how Noblit & Hare's principles⁷ have been applied in practice should refer to these published examples^{5,63}.

5.5 Meta-interpretation

Within the context of healthcare, meta-interpretation has been used infrequently. An early definition (from the 1990s) is that 'meta-interpretation is a study in which findings from multiple qualitative research projects are synthesised and new translations of the phenomenon under investigation are generated to create a more theoretically dense conceptualisation'²⁹. Finfgeld's model of meta-interpretation, which was procedurally guided by meta-ethnography with grounded theory providing the epistemological and methodological basis, focused on the courage used by those managing life with persistent threats to their wellbeing, and is perhaps the most frequently cited example of meta-interpretation in healthcare²⁹.

Subsequently, a more specific method of meta-interpretation has been proposed by Weed⁶⁷⁻⁶⁸ within the discipline of sports science. The 'fundamental features' of Weed's model⁶⁷⁻⁶⁸ – outlined in Box 5 – enable the synthesis of qualitative research in a way that 'maintains an interpretive epistemology congruent' with the original studies⁶⁷⁻⁶⁸. Weed's model of meta-interpretation appears to be currently untried in a health-specific context although some aspects of Weed's model such as the 'celebration of differences in the studies being synthesised' are in common⁶⁸ with Paterson et al.'s meta-study approach²² (see Section 5.6) which has been used in healthcare. For those undertaking qualitative synthesis within the context of HTA and systematic reviews, they may opt to use other more established approaches. Readers wanting to know more about Weed's model and its fundamental features are referred to the descriptions and illustrations in his writing⁶⁷⁻⁶⁸.

Box 5: The seven fundamental features of meta-interpretation as described by Weed⁶⁷⁻⁶⁸

- 1. The role of the synthesiser as an active interpretive agent
- 2. A recognition that the synthesis will be 'an interpretation' rather than 'the interpretation' of collection of studies
- 3. An ideographic approach to the development of exclusion criteria
- 4. An iterative approach to the theoretical sampling of studies for synthesis
- 5. A focus on 'meaning in context'
- 6. Interpretations as the 'raw data' for synthesis
- 7. A transparent audit trial demonstrating the integrity and trustworthiness of the synthesis.

5.6 Meta-study

Meta-study involves critical interpretation of existing qualitative research²². Before synthesis of the qualitative literature can take place and a new interpretation obtained, three analytical phases are completed – 'meta-theory, meta-method and meta-data analysis'⁶⁹. These three phases (defined in Box 6) can be briefly summarised as respectively, the 'analysis of theory', 'analysis of methods' and the 'analysis of findings'²⁵. These three analytical processes, which can be conducted concurrently 'provide a unique angle of vision from which to deconstruct and interpret' a body of qualitative literature²²; for example, they can help to identify a study's underlying theoretical assumptions. Once these analytical processes have been completed, meta-synthesis is then required to 'bring back together ideas that have been taken apart' and create a new interpretation of the phenomenon under investigation²².

A comprehensive guide to meta-study is available and readers requiring more information are referred to this seminal text²². Although meta-study was derived from a sociological and anthropological perspective⁷⁰, it has been used within healthcare especially nursing. The most notable example is the study by Thorne et al. of living with chronic illness⁷⁰. It has also been used more recently, for example to investigate aspects of specialist and advanced nursing practice⁷¹ as well as information and shared decision-making in healthcare consultations⁷². Researchers using meta-study may also adopt other approaches within the analytical processes, for example using meta-ethnography during meta-data analysis⁷².

Box 6: The three analytic phases involved in meta-study^{69,70}

Have been defined by Thorne⁷⁰ as:

- Meta-theory: examination of the theories that led researchers to identify relevant research topics; frame research questions in certain ways; and determine such factors as inclusion criteria, 'angle of vision', and 'interpretive lens'.
- Meta-method: thoughtful examination of the manner in which the methodological approach used to gather and interpret data shapes the findings that emerge from a particular study.
- Meta-data analysis: re-interpretation of the actual findings from the original qualitative studies in light of data and findings from other studies.

5.7 Meta-summary

Qualitative meta-summary is an approach for 'quantitatively oriented aggregation of qualitative findings that are themselves topical or thematic summaries or surveys of data'^{58,69,73}. Meta-summary therefore includes quantitative processes such as the identification of the frequency of individual findings^{58,73}. Integrative meta-summaries can be conducted on their own, or in association with more traditional qualitative synthesis, and can include qualitative and quantitative descriptive findings^{58,73}. Given that meta-summary reflects a quantitative perspective and can be used with survey data, which is often excluded from some qualitative synthesise as it lacks conceptual depth and richness, this approach has a potential role in HTA and systematic reviews. Qualitative meta-summary techniques are shown in Box 7 and readers are

referred to Sandelowski & Barroso's handbook for details⁵⁸. Although metasummary has been applied in a study of factors associated with adherence and non-adherence in anti-retroviral therapy in human immunodeficiency virus (HIV)-positive women⁷³, this approach is still relatively underutilised in the healthcare context.

Box 7: Techniques used in qualitative meta-summary^{58,73}

Leading authors in this field^{58,73} have identified these as:

- Extracting findings, separating them from other elements of the research report
- Editing findings to make them accessible to readers
- Grouping findings in common topical domains
- Abstracting and formatting findings
- Calculating frequency and intensity size effects (ie 'this constitutes a quantitative transformation of qualitative data... [with the purpose of] extracting more meaning from the data and verifying ...patterns or themes' ⁵⁸.

5.8 Qualitative cross-case analysis

Cross-case analysis is a method of synthesis which uses tables and/or matrices to summarise data across both qualitative and quantitative studies^{27,52,74}. Qualitative cross-case analysis can be informed by various theoretical approaches, such as Miles and Huberman's approach to data analysis⁷⁵. A report by Mays et al. provides an excellent overview of qualitative cross-case analysis including related theory as well as strengths and limitations of the method so readers are referred to this source for more details⁵². To date, gualitative crosscase analysis has not been widely used in the context of health or social care. McNaughton appears to use this method to conduct a synthesis of 14 studies reporting on the practice of home visiting by American public health nurses⁷⁶. The aim of this synthesis was to examine 'the original author's description of research findings and to find common themes and relationships among the [varying] research reports'⁷⁶. Full details of how the principles of Miles & Huberman's data analysis⁷⁵ can be applied for the purpose of synthesising qualitative studies are provided in McNaughton's paper, for example through the use of coding⁷⁵⁻⁷⁶.

5.9 Thematic synthesis

Thematic analysis is another method used for analysing qualitative data, particularly (but not exclusively) alongside quantitative data synthesis. It was first used and developed by researchers from the EPPI-Centre to address questions around 'what works', primarily in relation to health promotion interventions. The researchers synthesised qualitative research and quantitative research separately then integrated their findings⁷⁷. Most recently, this method has been used in synthesising findings from multiple qualitative studies in systematic reviews. Thomas and Harden developed a new approach called thematic synthesis which draws on the principles of primary qualitative research and other established methods⁷⁸. It identifies the recurring themes or issues in the primary literature, analyses these themes and draws conclusions in

systematic reviews. The purpose of this method is to develop analytical themes through a descriptive synthesis and find explanations relevant to a particular review question. This method was developed to address specific review questions about need, appropriateness and acceptability of interventions, as well as effectiveness. People's views and experiences are taken into account, and hypotheses that could be tested against the findings of qualitative studies are generated.

The process of thematic synthesis involves three steps which overlap to some degree (see Box 8) and is illustrated in a published review on health promotion⁷⁸.

Box 8: The stages of thematic synthesis (from Thomas⁷⁸)

- Free line-by-line coding of textual findings from primary studies.
- Organisation of free codes into 'descriptive' themes.
- Generation of 'analytical' themes using the descriptive themes, reviewers produce a new interpretation which goes beyond the original studies.

The development of descriptive and analytical themes using coding invokes reciprocal translation and constant comparison. As such, this method shares some characteristics of meta-ethnography and grounded theory.

Thematic analysis, as described above, has been used in multiple reviews^{36,79-85} in the following topic areas: health promotion^{36,79,84}; chronic kidney disease⁸¹; organ transplantation⁸⁵; the patient-doctor relationship⁸³; practice-based learning⁸²; and lay understandings of cancer risk⁸⁰. There is also a worked example of thematic analysis in relation to lay views on infant size and growth available⁸⁶. Most recently, it has been used in synthesising findings from multiple qualitative studies in a systematic review of children's views of obesity⁸⁷.

6 Other methods of synthesising research evidence

This section outlines two methods which are not necessarily specific for synthesising qualitative data (although qualitative evidence can form part of the synthesis) but may be of use to people undertaking HTAs.

6.1 Realist synthesis

Realist synthesis (also known as realistic synthesis or realist review) is a relatively new 'approach to reviewing research evidence on complex social interventions which provides an explanatory analysis of how and why they work (or don't work) in particular contexts or settings'⁸⁸⁻⁹⁰. Realist review and synthesis 'can combine theoretical thinking and empirical evidence' in a form that can be of value to decision and policy makers⁸⁸. As such, realist synthesis is associated with evidence-based policy and practice but has a potential role in the synthesis of qualitative studies. The process of realist synthesis involves several stages, which can be iterative, and was developed in response to the more rigid, traditional approach to systematic reviews⁸⁸. A brief description of the key steps in realist synthesis is outlined in Box 9 and readers wanting to know more about this method are referred to the relevant seminal texts⁸⁸⁻⁹⁰.

There are a number of published reviews which have used realist synthesis⁹¹⁻⁹⁷ for a wide range of topics. These include prevention of childhood obesity⁹¹, school feeding programmes⁹², housing/homelessness and mental health^{93,96}, practice development⁹⁴⁻⁹⁵, and internet-based medical education⁹⁷. Again, readers are referred to these sources for further details of how to undertake a realist synthesis to answer a research question.

Box 9: Key steps in a realist synthesis (from Pawson⁸⁸⁻⁹⁰)

- 1. Identifying the scope of the review
- 2. Search and appraise the evidence
- 3. Extract and synthesise the findings, eg using constant comparison, identification of contradictory evidence
- 4. Draw conclusions and recommendations this includes production of a conceptual summary.

6.2 Narrative synthesis

Like meta-synthesis, narrative synthesis is a term that can have different meanings. For example, while some may consider a conventional literature review or a general descriptive discussion to be a narrative synthesis, others see it as being a way of synthesising quantitative studies where meta-analysis is not possible (eg where there is too much heterogeneity). In recognition of the 'lack of consensus regarding the constituent elements of a narrative synthesis and how best to promote trustworthiness in the process'^{74,98-99}, guidance for conducting narrative synthesis has been developed⁹⁸ and readers are referred to this important source and related supporting texts^{74,98-100}.

In the context of systematic review and synthesis of findings from multiple studies, narrative synthesis has a place in HTA reviews. For example, it could be used prior to meta-analysis. Although narrative synthesis can involve statistical summary, its 'defining characteristic is that it adopts a textual approach to synthesis'⁷⁴, relying primarily on the use of words and text to summarise and explain the findings⁹⁸⁻⁹⁹.

Popay et al. identify four main elements to the process of narrative synthesis⁹⁸ (Box 10) and acknowledge that researchers are likely to proceed through these stages iteratively. The guidance on narrative synthesis in systematic reviews focuses on the effects of interventions and the factors influencing intervention implementation⁹⁸. Two methodological papers demonstrating the practical application of this guidance are available reviewing intervention effectiveness and implementation in the area of domestic smoke alarms⁹⁹⁻¹⁰⁰.

Box 10: The four main elements of narrative synthesis (from Popay^{74,98})

- Developing a theory of how the intervention works, why and for whom
- Developing a preliminary synthesis of findings of included studies
- Exploring relationships in data
- Assessing the robustness of the synthesis.

The tools and techniques which could be used in narrative synthesis, for example textual description of the original studies, are comprehensively described elsewhere. Some methods of narrative synthesis such as translating data through thematic analysis⁹⁸ have echoes of other approaches to qualitative synthesis. Whereas other techniques, such as those for exploring relationships within and between studies using funnel and forest plots, are traditionally more associated with quantitative rather than qualitative synthesis. Narrative synthesis can be applied to studies gathering qualitative data using methods such as focus groups and interviews¹⁰⁰. Ultimately whether narrative synthesis is used depends on the research questions which need answered and the researcher(s) epistemological position that is, whether they wish to conduct a synthesis more grounded within the philosophy of the qualitative paradigm.

7 Conclusions

Incorporating qualitative research specifically within HTAs and systematic reviews is a relatively recent development but researchers in a range of disciplines have been synthesising qualitative studies for some time. There is a considerable body of knowledge in this area, both theoretical guidance and practical worked examples. The literature relating to the synthesis of qualitative literature is however complex, especially as several different approaches exist and terminology is often used interchangeably and inconsistently. This is perhaps not surprising as the field is still evolving and those synthesising qualitative research may approach the studies from differing epistemological stances. For example, a researcher synthesising qualitative studies to inductively understand a social phenomenon may adopt a different method from one synthesising qualitative studies with the purpose of better understanding the effects of an empirically-tested clinical intervention. Alternatively, a researcher planning to synthesise qualitative research primarily as a means of generating theory may use a different approach from one who intends to apply the results to answering a specific clinical question. In addition, it is not uncommon for researchers to use the principles of more than one method for synthesising qualitative studies within a single study. Nonetheless, at the time of writing, there are certain methodologies which already appear to be leading the field in healthcare. In particular, these are: meta-ethnography for the synthesis of qualitative studies; thematic synthesis for the integration of qualitative findings with those from quantitative systematic reviews; and realist synthesis to combine a range of evidence.

This document only provides an outline of possible methods. Those wishing to undertake a synthesis of qualitative studies within the context of an HTA or systematic review – as well as commissioners and funders of such research – might wish to consider the aim(s) and objective(s) of their review and the outcome required, and select the method(s) accordingly. Finally, researchers are also advised to familiarise themselves with the theoretical and practical guidance associated with the approach(es).

8 Acknowledgements

NHS QIS would like to thank the peer reviewers who took the time and trouble to suggest improvements to the draft report.

Professor Karen Facey Evidence-based Health Policy Consultant, United Kingdom

Professor Helle Ploug Hansen Institute of Public Health, University of Southern Denmark

Dr Heather McIntosh Health Services Researcher, NHS QIS

Dr James Thomas Assistant Director, Social Sciences Research Unit, Institute of Education, University of London

9 References

- 1. Mason J. Qualitative Researching. 2nd ed. London: Sage, 2007.
- Malterud K. Qualitative research: standards, challenges, and guidelines. Lancet 2001; 358(9280):483-8.
- Thorne S. Data analysis in qualitative research. Evidence Based Nursing 2000; 3(3):68-70.
- Health Technology Assessment Handbook. Kristensen FB & Sigmund H, editor. 2007. Copenhagen, Danish Centre for Health Technology Assessment, National Board of Health.
- Britten N, Campbell R, Pope C, Donovan J, Morgan M. Using meta-ethnography to synthesis qualitative research: a worked example. Journal of Health Services Research Policy 2002; 7:209-216.
- 6. Malpass A, Shaw A, Sharp D, Walter F, Feder G, Ridd M et al. 'Medication career' or 'Moral career'? The two sides of managing ante-depressants: A metaethnography of patients' experience of anti-depressants. Social Science and Medicine 2009; 68:154-168.
- Noblit GW, Hare RD. Meta-ethnography: synthesising qualitative studies. London: Sage, 1988.
- 8. Centre for Reviews and Dissemination. Systematic Reviews: CRD's guidance for undertaking reviews in health care. 2009. York. University of York.
- 9. Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions Version 5.0.2 [updated September 2009]. Higgins J, Green S, editors. 2009. Chichester, UK, The Cochrane Collaboration, 2009. The Cochrane Library.
- 10. Joanna Briggs Institute. Joanna Briggs Institute Reviewer's Manual. Adelaide, Australia: Joanna Briggs Institute, 2008.
- Moher D, Liberati A, Tetzlaff J, Altman DG. Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-analyses: the PRISMA Statement. PLoS Medicine 2009; 6(7):e1000097.
- 12. Dixon-Woods M, Agarwal S, Young B, Jones D, Sutton A. Integrative approaches to qualitative and quantitative evidence. London: 2004.

- 13. Dixon-Woods M, Bonas S, Booth A, Jones D, Miller T, Sutton AJ et al. How can systematic reviews incorporate qualitative research? A critical perspective. Qualitative Research 2006; 6:27-44.
- 14. Noyes J, Popay J, Pearson A, Hannes K, Booth A. Chapter 20: Qualitative research and Cochrane reviews. In: Higgins JPT, Green S, editors. Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions. www. cochrane-handbook.org: The Cochrane Collaboration, 2010.
- 15. Pearson A. Balancing the evidence: incorporating the synthesis of qualitative data into systematic reviews. International Journal of Evidence-Based Healthcare 2004; 2(2):45-64.
- 16. Pope C, Mays N, Popay J. How can we synthesise qualitative and quantitative evidence for healthcare policy-makers and managers? Healthcare Management Forum 2006; 19(1):27-31.
- 17. Estabrooks CA, Field PA, Morse JM. Pearls, piths and provocation: aggregating qualitative findings - an approach to theory development. Qual Health Res 1994; 4(4):503-511.
- Facey K. Patients' perspectives in health technology assessment: A route to robust evidence and fair deliberation. International Journal of Technology Assessment in Health Care 2010; 26(3):334-340.
- 19. Campbell N, Murray E, Darbyshire J, Emery J, Farmer A, Griffiths F et al. Designing and evaluating complex interventions to improve health care. British Medical Journal 2007; 334:455-459.
- 20. Sandelowski M, Docherty S, Emden C. Qualitative meta-synthesis: issues and techniques. Research in Nursing and Health 1997; 20:365-371.
- 21. Barroso J, Powell-Cope GM. Metasynthesis of qualitative research on living with HIV infection. Qualitative Health Research 2000; 10(3):340-353.
- 22. Paterson BL, Thorne S, Canam C, Jillings C. Meta-study of qualitative heatlh research: a practical guide to meta-analysis and metasynthesis. California: Sage Publications, 2001.
- 23. Bondas T, Hall EOC. Challenges in approaching meta-synthesis research. Qualitative Health Research 2007; 17:113-121.

- 24. Finlayson KW, Dixon A. Qualitative metasynthesis: a guide for the novice. Nurse Researcher 2008; 15(2):59-71.
- 25. Barnett-Page E, Thomas J. Methods for the synthesis of qualitative research: a critical review. 2009. London, Evidence for Policy and Practice Information and Coordinating (EPPI) Centre, Social Science Research Unit.
- 26. Finfgeld DL. Meta-synthesis: The state of the art so far. Qualitative Health Research 2003; 13:893-904.
- 27. Mays N, Pope C, Popay J. Systematically reviewing qualitative and quantitative evidence to inform management and policy-making in the health field. Journal of Health Services Research Policy 2005; 10(supp 1):s1-s20.
- Schreiber R, Crooks D, Noerager Stern P. Qualitative meta-analysis. In: Morse J, editor. Completing a qualitative project: details and dialogue. London: Sage, 1997: 311-328.
- 29. Finfgeld DL. Courage as a process of pushing beyond the struggle. Qualitative Health Research 1999; 9:803-814.
- Downie S. Meta-synthesis: a guide to knitting smoke. Evidence Based Midwifery 2008; 6(1):4-8.
- Starr K. Nursing education challenges: students with English as an additional language. Journal of Nursing Education 2009; 48(9):478-487.
- 32. Dixon-Woods M, Agarwal S, Jones D, Young B, Sutton A. Synthesising qualitative and quantitative evidence: a review of possible methods. Journal of Health Services Research Policy 2005; 10(1):45-53.
- 33. Kearney MH. Enduring Love: a grounded formal theory of women's experience of domestic violence. Research in Nursing and Health 2001; 24:270-282.
- Greenhalgh T, Robert G, Macfarlane F, Bate P, Kyriakidou O, Peacock R. Storylines of research in diffusion of innovation: a metanarrative approach to systematic review. Social Science and Medicine 2005; 61:417-430.
- 35. Ring N, Jepson R, Wilson C, Hoskins G, Pinnock H, Sheikh A et al. Promoting the use of asthma action plans: what the qualitative evidence tells us. Report no. CZG 2410. 2009. Edinburgh, Chief Scientist's Office.

- Thomas J, Harden A, Oakley A, Oliver S, Sutcliffe K, Rees R et al. Integrating qualitative research with trials in systematic reviews. British Medical Journal 2004; 328:1010-1012.
- Barroso J, Gollop CJ, Sandelowski M, Meynell J, Pearce PF, Collins LJ. The challenges of searching for and retrieving qualitative studies. Western Journal of Nursing Research 2003; 25(2):153-178.
- Evans D. Database searches for qualitative research. Journal of the Medical Library Association 2002; 90(3):290-3.
- 39. McCreaddie M. Being serious about humour in health care. Aids & Hepatitis Digest 2010; 136:1-5.
- 40. Flemming K, Briggs M. Electronic searching to locate qualitative research: evaluation of three strategies. Journal of Advanced Nursing 2007; 57(1):95-100.
- 41. Wong SS, Wilczynski NL, Haynes RB, Hedges Team. Developing optimal search strategies for detecting clinically relevant qualitative studies in MEDLINE. Studies in Health Technology & Informatics 2004; 107(Pt 1):311-6.
- 42. Walters LA, Wilczynski NL, Haynes RB, Hedges Team. Developing optimal search strategies for retrieving clinically relevant qualitative studies in EMBASE. Qualitative Health Research 200616(1):162-8.
- 43. McKibbon KA, Wilczynski NL, Haynes RB. Developing optimal search strategies for retrieving qualitative studies in PsycINFO. Evaluation and the Health Professions 2006; 29(4):440-454.
- 44. Wilczynski NL, Marks S, Haynes RB. Search strategies for identifying qualitative studies in CINAHL. Qualitative Health Research 2007; 17(5):705-10.
- 45. Haynes RB, McKibbon KA, Wilczynski NL, Walter SD, Werre SR, Hedges Team. Optimal search strategies for retrieving scientifically strong studies of treatment from Medline: analytical survey. BMJ 2005; 330(7501):1179.
- Shaw RL, Booth A, Sutton A, Miller T, Smith J, Young B et al. Finding qualitative research: an evaluation of search strategies. BMC Medical Research Methodology 2004; 4(5).
- 47. Mays N, Pope C. Qualitative research in health care. Assessing quality in qualitative research. BMJ 2000; 320(7226):50-2.

- 48. Atkins S, Lewin S, Smith H, Engel M, Fretheim A, Volmink J. Conducting a meta-ethnography of qualitative literature: Lessons learnt. BMC Medical Research Methodology 2008; 8:21.
- 49. Dixon-Woods M, Cavers D, Agarwal S, Annandale E, Arthur A, Harvey J et al. Conducting a critical interpretive synthesis of the literature on access to healthcare by vulnerable groups. BMC Medical Research Methodology 2006; 6:35-47.
- 50. Dixon-Woods M, Sutton AJ, Shaw R, Miller T, Smith J, Young B et al. Appraising qualitative research for inclusion in systematic reviews: a quantitative and qualitative comparison of three methods. Journal of Health Services Research Policy 2007; 12(1):42-47.
- 51. Barbour RS. Checklists for improving rigour in qualitative research: a case of the tail wagging the dog? British Medical Journal 2001; 322:1115-1117.
- 52. Mays N, Pope C, Popay J. Details of approaches to synthesis: a methodological appendix to the paper: Systematically reviewing qualitative and quantitative evidence to inform management and policy making in the health field. http:// www.chsrf.ca/funding_opportunities/ commissioned_research/projects/pdf/ msynth_appendix_e.pdf . 2005. 11-11-0010.
- 53. Spencer L, Richie J, Lewis J, Dillon L. Quality in Qualitative Evaluation: A framework for assessing research evidence. http:// www.civilservice.gov.uk/Assets/a_quality_ framework_tcm6-7314.pdf. 2003. Cabinet Office.
- 54. Public Health Resource Unit. 10 questions to help you make sense of qualitative research. http://www.phru.nhs.uk/Doc_ Links/Qualitative%20Appraisal%20Tool.pdf 2006.
- 55. Popay J, Rogers A, Williams G. Rationale and standards for the systematic review of qualitative literature in health services research. Qualitative Health Research 1998; 8(3):341-351.
- 56. Cochrane Qualitative Research Methods Group. Chapter 6 – Critical appraisal of qualitative research. http://www. joannabriggs.edu.au/cqrmg/documents/ Cochrane_Guidance/Chapter6_Guidance_ Critical_Appraisal.pdf . 2010.

- 57. Cochrane Qualitative Research Methods Group. Tools to assist qualitative reviewers. http://www.joannabriggs.edu.au/cqrmg/ tools_3.html . 2010.
- 58. Sandelowski M, Barroso J. Handbook for synthesising qualitative research. New York: Springer Publishing Company, 2007.
- 59. Jensen L, Allen M. Meta-synthesis of qualitative findings. Qualitative Health Research 1996; 6(4):553-560.
- 60. Glaser BG, Strauss AL. The Discovery of Grounded Theory. Chicago: Aldine, rrr1967.
- 61. Eaves YD. A synthesis technique for grounded theory data analysis. Journal of Advanced Nursing 2001; 35(5):654-663.
- 62. Finfgeld-Connett D. Meta-synthesis of caring in nursing. Journal of Clinical Nursing 2007; 17:196-204.
- 63. Campbell R, Pound P, Pope C, Britten N, Pill R, Morgan M et al. Evaluating metaethnography: a synthesis of qualitative research on lay experiences of diabetes and diabetic care. Social Science and Medicine 2003; 56:671-684.
- 64. Larun L, Malterud K. Identity and coping experiences in Chronic Fatigue Syndrome: a synthesis of qualitative studies. Patient Education and Counselling 2007; 69:20-28.
- Pound P, Britten N, Morgan M, Yardley L, Pope C, Daker-White G et al. Resisting medicines: a synthesis of qualitative studies of medicine taking. Social Science and Medicine 2005; 61:133-155.
- Ring N, Malcolm C, Wkye S, MacGillivary S, Dixon D., Hoskins G et al. Promoting the use of Personal Asthma Action Plans: a systematic review. Primary Care Respiratory Journal 2007; 16(5):271-283.
- 67. Weed M. 'Meta-interpretation': a method for the interpretive synthesis of qualitative research. Forum: Qualitative Social Research 2005; 6(1):1-17.
- Weed M. A potential method for the interpretive synthesis of qualitative research. International Journal of Social Research Methodology 2007; 11(1):13-28.
- 69. Thorne S, Jensen L, Kearney MH, Noblit G, Sandelowski M. Qualitative meta-synthesis: reflections on methodological orientation and ideological agenda. Qualitative Health Research 2004; 14:1342-1365.

- Thorne S, Paterson B, Acorn S, Canam C, Joachim G, Jillings C. Chronic Illness Experience: insights from a meta-study. Qualitative Health Research 2002; 12:437-452.
- 71. Lloyd Jones M. Application of systematic review methods to qualitative research: practical issues. Journal of Advanced Nursing 2004; 48(3):271-278.
- 72. Edwards M, Davies M, Edwards A. What are the external influences on information exchange and shared decision-making in healthcare consultations: a meta-synthesis of the literature. Patient Education and Counseling 2009; 75:37-52.
- 73. Sandelowski M, Barroso J, Voils C. Using qualitative meta-summary to synthesise qualitative and quantitative descriptive findings. Research in Nursing & Health 2007; 30:99-111.
- 74. Pope C, Mays N, Popay J. Synthesising qualitative and quantitative health evidence: a guide to methods. Maidenhead: Open University Press, 2007.
- Miles MB, Huberman AM. Qualitative data analysis. 2nd edition ed. Thousand Oaks, California: Sage, 1994.
- 76. McNaughton DB. A synthesis of qualitative home visiting research. Public Health Nursing 2000; 17(6):405-414.
- Thomas J, Harden A, Oakley A., Oliver S, Sutcliffe K, Rees R et al. Integrating qualitative research with trials in systematic reviews. BMJ 2004; 328:1010-1012.
- 78. Thomas J, Harden A. Methods for the thematic synthesis of qualitative research in systematic reviews. BMC Med Res Meth 2008; 8:45.
- Harden A, Brunton G, Fletcher M, Oakley A. Teenage pregnancy and social disadvantage: systematic review integrating controlled trials and qualitative studies. British Medical Journal 2009; 339(b4254).
- 80. Lipworth WL, Davey H, Carter S, Hooker C. Beliefs and beyond: what can we learn from qualitative studies of lay people's understandings of cancer risk. Health Expectations 2010; 13(2):113-124.

- Morton RL, Tong A, Howard K, Snelling P, Webster AC. The views of patients and carers in treatment decision-making for chronic kidney disease: systematic review and thematic synthesis of qualitative studies. British Medical Journal 2010; 340:c112.
- 82. Ogrinc G, Headrick LA, Mutha S, Coleman MT, O'Donnell J, Miles PV. A framework for teaching medical students and residents about practice-based learning and improvement, synthesised from a literature review. Academic Medicine 2003; 78(7):748-756.
- 83. Ridd M, Shaw A, Lewis G, Salisbury C. The patient-doctor relationship: a synthesis of the qualitative literature on patients' perspectives. British Journal of General Practice 2009; 59(561):e116-c133.
- 84. Thomas J, Sutcliffe K, Harden A, Oakley A, Oliver S, Rees J et al. Children and healthy eating: a systematic review of barriers and facilitators. 2003. London, EPPI-Centre, Social Science Research Unit, Institute of Education,University of London.
- Tong A, Morton RL, Howard K, Craig J. Adolescent experiences following organ transplantation: a systematic review of qualitative studies. Journal of Pediatrics 2010; 155(4):542-549.
- Lucas PJ, Baird J, Arai L, Law C, Roberts H. Worked examples of alternative methods for the synthesis of qualitative and quantitative research in systematic reviews. BMC Medical Research Methodology 2007; 7(4).
- Rees R, Oliver K, Woodman J, Thomas J. Children's views about obesity, body size, shape and weight: a systematic review.
 2009. London, EPPI Centre, Social Science Research Unit, Institute of Education, University of London.
- Pawson R, Greenhalgh T, Harvey G, Walshe K. Realist Synthesis: an introduction. Manchester: University of Manchester, 2004.
- Pawson R, Greenhalgh T, Harvey G, Walshe K. Realist review: a new method of systematic review designed for complex policy interventions. Journal of Health Services Research and Policy 2005; 10(Supp 1):21-34.

- 90. Pawson R. Evidence-based Policy: The Promise of 'Realist Synthesis'. Evaluation 2002; 8:340-358.
- 91. Connelly JB, Duaso MJ, Butler G. A systematic review of controlled trials of interventions to prevent childhood obesity and overweight: a realist synthesis of the evidence. Public Health 2007; 121(7):510-517.
- 92. Greenhalgh T, Kristjansson E, Robinson V. Realist review to understand the efficacy of school feeding programmes. British Medical Journal 2007; 335(7625):858-861.
- 93. Jackson L, Langille L, Lyons R, Hughes J, Martin D, Winstanley V. Does moving from a high poverty to lower poverty neighbourhood improve mental health? A realist review of 'Moving to Opportunity'. Health and Place 2009; 15(4):961-970.
- 94. Jacobs S, Ashcroft D, Hassell K. Conducting a realist review of a complex concept in the pharmacy practice literature: Methodological Issues. International Journal of Pharmacy Practice 2010; 18(supp 1):1-2.
- McCormack B, Wright J, Dewar B, Harvey G, Ballantine K. A realist synthesis of evidence relating to practice development. Practice Development in Health Care 2007; 6(1):5-24.
- 96. O'Campo P, Kirst M, Schaefer-McDaniel N, Firestone M, Scott A, McShane K. Community based services for homeless adults experiencing concurrent mental health and substance use disorders: a realist approach to synthesising the evidence. Journal of Urban Health 2009; 86(6):965-989.

- 97. Wong G, Greenhalgh T, Pawson R. Internet-based medical education: a realisr review of what works, for whom and in what circumstances. BMC Medical Education 2010; 10(12).
- 98. Popay J, Roberts H, Sowden A, Petticrew M, Arai L, Rodgers M et al. Guidance on the conduct of narrative synthesis in systematic reviews. Final report. 2006. Swindon, ESRC Methods Programme.
- 99. Rodgers M, Sowden A, Petticrew M, Arai L, Roberts H, Britten N et al. Testing methodological guidance on the conduct of narrative synthesis in systematic reviews: effectiveness of interventions to promote smoke alarm ownership and function. Evaluation 2009; 15(1):49-72.
- 100.Arai L, Britten N, Popay J, Roberts H, Petticrew M, Rodgers M et al. Testing methodological developments in the conduct of narrative synthesis: a demonstration review of research on the implementation of smoke alarm interventions. Evidence & Policy 2007; 3(3):361-383.
- 102.Long A, Godfrey M. An evaluation tool to assess the quality of qualitative research studies. International Journal of Social Research Methodology 2004; 7:181-198.
- 103.Walsh D, Downe S. Appraising the quality of qualitative research. Midwifery 2006; 22(2):108-119.

Methods of quality assessment used by organisations producing HTA

EPPI-Centre

Scoring Weight of evidence (WoE) approach: A = (methodological quality) B = (methodological relevance) C = (topic relevance) D = Judgement of overall WoE Total of A-C.
Scoring
Scoring

e http://eppi.ioe.ac.uk/cms/Default.aspx?tabid=177

f URL: http://eppi.ioe.ac.uk/eppireviewer/login.aspx

JBI	
Underlying approach	Scoring
No details provided in JBI manual ¹⁰	Scored: yes, no, unclear.
Quality criteria	
There is congruity between the stated philosophical perspective and the research methodology.	Not clear how criteria are subsequently used in the review.
There is congruity between the research methodology and the:	
(i) research question or objectives	
(ii) methods used to collect data	
(iii) representation and analysis of data	
(iv) interpretation of results.	
There is a statement locating the researcher culturally or theoretically.	
The influence of the researcher on the research (and vice-versa) is addressed.	
Participants and their voices are adequately represented.	
The research is ethical according to current criteria or, for recent studies, there is evidence of ethical approval by an appropriate body.	
A statement on the ethical approval process that was followed should be in the report.	
Conclusions drawn in the research report do appear to flow from the analysis, or interpretation, of the data.	

11 Abbreviations

CADTH	Canadian Agency for Drugs and Technologies in Health
CASP tool	Critical Appraisal Skills Programme tool
CRD	Centre for Reviews and Dissemination
EPPI-Centre	Evidence for Policy and Practice Information and Co-ordinating Centre
EUnetHTA	European Network for Health Technology Assessment
HIV	Human immunodeficiency virus
HTA	Health technology assessment
JBI	Joanna Briggs Institute
NHS QIS	NHS Quality Improvement Scotland
PICO	Population, Intervention, Comparison and Outcome
PRISMA	Preferred Reporting Items for Systems Reviews and Meta-analysis
RCT	Randomised controlled trial
WoE	Weight of evidence

You can read and download this document from our website. We can also provide this information:

- by email
- in large print
- on audio tape or CD
- in Braille (English only), and
- in community languages.



Edinburgh Office Elliott House 8-10 Hillside Crescent Edinburgh EH7 5EA

Phone: 0131 623 4300 Textphone: 0131 623 4383 Email: safeandclean.qis@nhs.net Glasgow Office Delta House 50 West Nile Street Glasgow G1 2NP

Phone: 0141 225 6999 Textphone: 0141 241 6316

www.nhshealthquality.org

The Scottish Health Council, the Scottish Intercollegiate Guidelines Network (SIGN) and the Healthcare Environment Inspectorate are key components of NHS QIS.

Healthca re Envir onment Inspectorate



